
SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

87 Sherman Street • Deadwood, SD 57732  
(605) 578-3074 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

NOTICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
AND QUARTERLY BUSINESS MEETING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the South Dakota Commission on Gaming will hold administrative 
hearings and its’ quarterly business meeting on March 23, 2022 beginning at 9:00 a.m. MST in the 
City Commission Chambers at Deadwood City Hall, 102 Sherman Street, Deadwood, South Dakota   

You may listen to the meeting at https://www.sd.net/ 

You may call in to participate using the following information:  
Phone number to participate: 1-669-900-9128  
When prompted enter the Participation ID: # 914 6735 9877  
When prompted enter the Passcode:  306867  
When prompted state your name followed by the #  
Dial in participants will be muted when joining the meeting. *6 mute/unmute and if you wish to 
make a comment select *9 to raise your hand.   

Join Zoom Meeting  
https://state-sd.zoom.us/j/91467359877?pwd=MmZZUmtTRWYvSUlacDBjWlM5cDl1UT09 

   AGENDA 

Call to Order 

Conflicts of Interest Disclosure 

ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

Petition for Declaratory Ruling per §1-26-15 regarding additional building determination Pages 3 - 12 
KR Deadwood Sherman Street 2020 LLC      

QUARTERLY BUSINESS MEETING 

Adoption of Quarterly Business Meeting Agenda  Pages 1 - 2 

Approval of the minutes of Special Meeting of February 3,2022  Pages 13 - 17      

Old Business 

Comments Executive Secretary Susan Christian 

Comments Department of Revenue Secretary Jim Terwilliger 
1

https://www.sd.net/
https://state-sd.zoom.us/j/91467359877?pwd=MmZZUmtTRWYvSUlacDBjWlM5cDl1UT09


Stipulation of Assurance and Voluntary Compliances   Pages 18 - 104 

1) Joseph Gasper III License #11138-19-KY        Pages 19 - 26
• Complaint #21-10-045-BS

2) Sara Stone SDCG L License #12101-21-SP     Pages 27 - 34
• Complaint #21-10-053-BS

3) ISI License #12253-21-SW   Pages 35 - 45 
• Complaint #22-01-003-MH
• Complaint#22-01-005-MH

4) Mustang Sally’s License #12264-OP     Pages 46 - 52 
• Complaint #22-01-007-MH

5) Gold Dust License #0231-OP  Pages 53 - 62    
• Complaint #22-01-004-MH
• Complaint #22-01-006-MH

6) Danny Burr License #0547-00-KY   Pages 63 - 72        
• Complaint #21-12-072-AW

7) Gold Country Inn License #0596-RT     Pages 73 - 83   
• Complaint #22-01-012-AW

8) DHIH, LLC dba Hickok’s License #11965-RT     Pages 84 - 91
• Complaint #22-01-013-MH

9) DBUH, LLC dba The Bullock License #11985-RT  Pages 92 - 104
• Compliant#22-01-014-MH
• Complaint #22-01-015-MH
• Complaint #22-01-016-MH

Approval of new event to Sports Event and Wagering Catalog  Pages 105 - 110 

Deadwood Licensing Matters  Pages 111 - 121 

Public Comment 

Executive Session pursuant to SDCL 1-25-2 (3)  

Decisions on Administrative Hearings 

Adjournment   

SUSAN CHRISTIAN, CIA 
Executive Secretary 

For access, persons with special needs may call the Commission office (605) 578-3074.                
2

https://dor.sd.gov/media/lncnxtpf/sports-betting-catalog-12-31-2021.pdf


3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

87 Sherman Street • Deadwood, SD 57732  
(605) 578-3074 • dor.sd.gov/gaming

SDCG Special Meeting Minutes February 2, 2022 
1 

UNAPPROVED MINUTES 

South Dakota Commission on Gaming Special Meeting 

MINUTES 
February 2, 2022 

The South Dakota Commission on Gaming special meeting was held by telephone conference call at 3:30 
p.m. CST. Commissioner Karen Wagner, Commissioner Karl Fischer, Commission Bob Goetz, Commissioner
Spencer Hawley, and Commissioner Harry Christianson were present. Staff members present for the meeting
were Mike Shaw, Commission Attorney; Susan Christian, Executive Secretary; Mark Heltzel, Deputy Executive
Secretary; Kelly Hanson, Director of Operations; Brian Swets, Enforcement Agent, and Kathy Beringer,
Recorder. Other persons participating in the meeting telephonically were Garret Gross, Basil Hofer, and
Brendan Reilly, Dakota Gaming Group; Gary King, Rushmore Gaming, LLC; Jaci Pearson, Black Hills Pioneer;
Steve Schaeffer, First Gold; and Mike Rodman, Deadwood Gaming Association.

The meeting was called to order by Commissioner Wagner at 3:30 p.m. CST and a roll call was taken. 
Commissioner Wagner welcomed the new Commissioner Harry Christianson. 

On a roll call all Commissioners were present. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Commissioner Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Christianson Aye 
Commissioner Wagner Aye 

Conflicts of Interest Disclosure 

On a roll call no conflicts of interest were disclosed. 

Commissioner Goetz  Nay 
Commissioner Fischer  Nay 
Commissioner Hawley  Nay 
Commissioner Christianson Nay 
Commissioner Wagner Nay 

Old Business 

There was no old business to be discussed. 

13



SDCG Special Meeting Minutes February 2, 2022 
2 

December 15, 2021 Quarterly Meeting 

Commissioner Fischer made a motion to adopt the minutes as drafted for the December 15, 2021 quarterly 
meeting. Commissioner Hawley seconded the motion. Commissioner Christianson abstained from the roll 
call vote. 

On a roll call vote motion carried. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Commissioner Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Wagner Aye 

Deadwood Licensing Matters 

Business License Temporary Approval 

Deputy Executive Secretary Heltzel recommended approval of the following: 

 Temporary approval of Dakota Gaming Group, Inc. dba BetKota for a Sports Wagering Service
Providers License (12215-SW) for twelve (12) months to allow for the completion of the background
investigation, or until the Commission makes a final determination on the application upon the
following conditions:

o Successful completion of the background investigation within twelve (12) months;
o Report all disciplinary action taken against Applicant by any regulatory agency and providing

updates to Commission Staff as to the status of any disciplinary action;
o Taking full responsibility for the actions or inactions of any third party contracted with to

provide sports wagering services to licensed operators in Deadwood, complete and sign the
attached agreement; and

o Provide a list of all third-party vendors contracted with to provide sports wagering services to
licensed operators within the city of Deadwood, including associated equipment providers,
within fourteen (14) days of temporary licensure and supplemented within fourteen (14) days
of any additional contracts.

Commissioner Fischer made a motion to approve the temporary conditional license for Dakota Gaming 
Group, Inc. as staff recommend. Commissioner Hawley seconded the motion. 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Commissioner Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Christianson Aye 
Commissioner Wagner Aye 

14



SDCG Special Meeting Minutes February 2, 2022 
3 

 Approval of Dakota Gaming Group, Inc. dba BetKota for a Route Operator License (12625-RO).

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to approve the Route Operator License as staff recommended. 
Commissioner Hawley seconded the motion. 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Commissioner Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Christianson Aye 
Commissioner Wagner Aye 

 Temporary approval of Rushmore Gaming, LLC dba BetRushmore for a Sports Wagering Service
Providers License (12216-SW) for twelve (12) months to allow for the completion of the background
investigation, or until the Commission makes a final determination on the application upon the
following conditions:

o Successful completion of the background investigation within twelve (12) months;
o Report all disciplinary action taken against Applicant by any regulatory agency and providing

updates to Commission Staff as to the status of any disciplinary action;
o Taking full responsibility for the actions or inactions of any third party contracted with to

provide sports wagering services to licensed operators in Deadwood, complete and sign the
attached agreement; and

o Provide a list of all third-party vendors contracted with to provide sports wagering services to
licensed operators within the city of Deadwood, including associated equipment providers,
within fourteen (14) days of temporary licensure and supplemented within fourteen (14) days
of any additional contracts.

Commissioner Hawley made a motion to approve the temporary conditional license for Rushmore Gaming, 
LLC as staff recommended. Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion. 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Commissioner Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Christianson Aye 
Commissioner Wagner Aye 

15



SDCG Special Meeting Minutes February 2, 2022 
4 

 Approval of Rushmore Gaming, LLC dba BetRushmore for a Route Operator License (12626-RO).

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to approve the Route Operator License as staff recommended. 
Commissioner Christianson seconded the motion. 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz  Aye 
Commissioner Fischer  Aye 
Commissioner Hawley  Aye 
Commissioner Christianson Aye 
Commissioner Wagner Aye 

Deputy Executive Secretary Heltzel stated that there is not an immediate timeline as when Dakota Gaming 
Group, Inc. and Rushmore Gaming, LLC can start sports wagering. There are still issues to work on as far as 
internal controls, staffing issues, inspections on the systems, and surveillance. Both parties agreed that there 
are still issues to accomplish before they can start sports wagering. 

Individual License 

Deputy Executive Secretary Heltzel recommended approval of the following: 

 Approval of Garret Gross (12194-DR), Basil Hofer (12195-DR), Gregory Anderson (12196-DR), and
Jason Baskin (12197-DR) as Directors associated with Dakota Gaming Group, Inc. dba BetKota.

Commissioner Fischer made a motion to approve the individual licenses as staff recommended. 
Commissioner Goetz seconded the motion. 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz 
Commissioner Fischer 
Commissioner Hawley 
Commissioner Christianson 
Commissioner Wagner 

 Approval of Ryan Karst (12200-DR), Gary King (12201-DR), Jared Miller (12202-DR), Terry Schmidt
(12203-DR), and Eldon Swingler (12204-DR) as Directors associated with Rushmore Gaming, LLC
dba BetRushmore.

Commissioner Goetz made a motion to approve the individual licenses as staff recommended. 
Commissioner Hawley seconded the motion. 

16



SDCG Special Meeting Minutes February 2, 2022 
5 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz 
Commissioner Fischer 
Commissioner Hawley 
Commissioner Christianson 
Commissioner Wagner 

Next Commission Meeting 

The next Commission meeting is scheduled for March 23, 2022. 

Public Comment 

There was no participation for the comment period of the meeting. 

Adjournment 

With no further business to be discussed Commissioner Fischer made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 
Commissioner Hawley seconded the motion. 

On a roll call vote motion carried unanimously. 

Commissioner Goetz 
Commissioner Fischer 
Commissioner Hawley 
Commissioner Christianson 
Commissioner Wagner 

The meeting was adjourned at 3:42 p.m. CST 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Kathy Beringer 

___________________________            ______________________________ 
Karen Wagner, Chairman Susan Christian, Executive Secretary 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

87 Sherman Street • Deadwood, SD 57732 

(605) 578-3074 • dor.sd.gov/gaming
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

Commissioners and Mike Shaw 

Susan Christian, Executive Secretary 

Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliances 

March 23, 2022 

An Informal Consultation was held between the Executive Secretary and Danny Burr to resolve the Initial 

Complaint filed for conducting a poker game with 53 cards in the deck in violation of 20:18:16:06. Based 

on prior Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliance, licensee was fined $100.00. Staff is 

recommending that the Commission accept the Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliance. 

63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING 

87 Sherman Street • Deadwood, SD 57732 

(605) 578-3074 • dor.sd.gov/gaming
DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE 

TO: 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

DATE: 

Commissioners and Mike Shaw 

Susan Christian, Executive Secretary 

Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary Compliances 

March 23, 2022 

Informal Consultations were held with DHIH, LLC dba as Hickok's and DBUH, LLC dba the 

Bullock to resolve initial complaints in violation of SDLC 42-7B -66. Licensees entered into 

gaming contracts selling ownership shares without submitting the contratcs to the South 

Dakota Commission on Gaming for review and approval. These contracts were discovered by 

Enforcement Staff during a background investigation for a sports wagering services providers 

applications. 

DHIH, LLC dba as Hickok's and DBUH, LLC dba The Bullock are properties of the same 

company. There were four (4) contracts entered into, one (1) by DHIH, LLC and three (3) by 

DBUH, LLC dba the Bullock. The Parent Company, SRK, provided the South Dakota Commission 

on Gaming with thirty two (32) additional contracts which staff has provided to South Dakota 

Commission on Gaming legal counselfor review. 

This is the second violation for DHIH, LLC dba a Hickok's in violation of SDLC 42-7B -66. DHIH, 

LLC dba as Hickok's was assessed a penalty of $500.00 for that violation. 

Based on the prior assessment, DHIH, LLC dba a Hickok's is assessed a penalty of $500.00 and 

DBUH, LLC is assessed a penalty of $1,500.00. 

Staff is recommending that the Commission accept the Stipulation and Assurance of Voluntary 

Compliances. 

84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



TO: Commissioners  
Mike Shaw 
Doug Abraham 

FROM: Susan Christian, Executive Secretary 
SUBJECT: Request to add USFL to Sports Wagering Events 

DATE: March 23, 2022 

A request was made to allow sports wagering on the United States Football League(USFL). Staff 
considered the following information in recommending approval of the request to add wagering on the 
USFL: 

• The USFL is a new spring football league that is owned by National Spring Football League
Enterprises Co, LLC (Fox Sports). Brian Woods, a co-founder of the new USFL, will serve as the
league's President of Football Operations.

• Staff was unable to locate a 2022 official rule book. The information easily available regarding
official rules was very general and stated, “it is 98% NFL rules with some tweaks”.

• Sportradar will conduct bet monitoring and reporting as well as conduct an audit of the USFL’s
integrity policies, provide integrity-related educational services to players, coaches and staff, and
perform annual due diligence reporting.

• The original USFL is suing the new USFL for trademark infringement, false advertising and false
association related to their league name, logos and uniforms.  On February 28, 2022, "The Real
USFL, LLC," a group fronted by Larry Csonka (acting in his capacity as general manager of the
original Jacksonville Bulls) and claiming to represent the interests of the owners of the former
USFL franchises, filed suit to stop the current USFL from using the name or trademarks associated
with the original league

• USFL has been approved for Colorado and Iowa.

105

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Football_League_(2022)#cite_note-8
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_States_Football_League_(2022)#cite_note-8
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Larry_Csonka
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Jacksonville_Bulls


 20:18:35:05.  Event category and wager type approval. Unless already approved by the 
commission, a licensee or sports wagering provider shall request approval from the commission 
in the form and manner prescribed by the commission, subject to the following:  

(1) A request for approval of an event category involving sporting events must include the name
of the sport’s governing body and, to the extent known by the licensee or sports wagering services 
provider, a description of its policies and procedures regarding event integrity; 

(2) A request for approval of an event category involving events other than professional and
collegiate sporting events must include: 

(A) A full description of the event category and the manner in which sports bets would be
placed and winning sports bets would be determined; 

(B) A full description of any technology that would be utilized to offer the event category;
(C) Assurance that the event category meets the requirements of subdivision (6);
(D) Any rules or voting procedures related to the event category; and
(E) Any other information the commission considers necessary.

(3) The commission may require an appropriate test or experimental period, under the terms
and conditions the commission considers appropriate, before granting final approval to an event 
category or wager type. The commission may subject any technology that would be used to offer 
an event category or wager type to such testing, investigation, and approval as it considers 
appropriate. 

(4) The commission may grant, deny, limit, restrict, or condition a request made pursuant to
this rule for any cause. The commission may issue an order revoking, suspending, or modifying 
any approval of an event category or wager type granted under this rule for any cause. 

(5) The commission shall notify all licensees and sports wagering services providers of any
additions, deletions, or changes regarding authorized event categories and authorized wager 
types. 

(6) A licensee or sports wagering services provider may only accept sports bets on events and
wager types for which: 

(A) The event can be effectively supervised by a sports governing body or other oversight
body; 

(B) There are integrity safeguards in place;
(C) The outcome can be documented and verified;
(D) The outcome can be generated by a reliable and independent process;
(E) The outcome is not affected by any wager placed;
(F) The event and acceptance of the wager type are conducted in conformity with all

applicable laws; and 
(G) Wagering on the event and acceptance of the wager type are consistent with the public

policy of this state. 

106

https://sdlegislature.gov/Rules?Rule=20:18:35:05


(7) The commission may use any information it considers appropriate, including, but not
limited to, information received from a sports governing body, to determine whether to authorize 
or prohibit wagering on a particular event or a particular wager type. 
    Source: 48 SDR 14, effective August 22, 2021. 
    General Authority: SDCL 42-7B-7, 42-7B-11(13). 
    Law Implemented: SDCL 42-7B-2.1(1), 42-7B-43. 

107

https://sdlegislature.gov/Statutes?Statute=42-7B-7
https://sdlegislature.gov/Statutes?Statute=42-7B-11
https://sdlegislature.gov/Statutes?Statute=42-7B-2.1
https://sdlegislature.gov/Statutes?Statute=42-7B-43


SOUTH DAKOTA COMMISSION ON GAMING

NEW LEAGUE, WAGER TYPE OR

SPORTING EVENT SPORTS

APPROVAL REQUEST FORM

PURSUANT TO

SDCL 42-7B AND ARSD 20:18:35:05

Licensee Name: Dakota Gaming Group/dba, BETKOTA

Licensee Representative Name: Garrett Gross

Type of Request:

Example: (New League) (New Event) (New Wager Type – specify for which league(s)/event(s))

Title of new league, new event, and/or new wager type: USFL Football

(https://www.theusfl.com/)

Requests will be submitted to the commission for approval at the next regularly
scheduled quarterly commission meeting.

● Provide a full description of the request being made and the way wagers would be
placed, and winning wagers would be determined. This league launches in April and it is
owned/operated by FOX Sports.  Pro Football is the largest wagered sport in the industry
and the public loves Pro Football. This is a top tier league and it will fill a void in the
market during historically slower months.  All appropriate bets would be identical to what
is offered for NFL currently.

● Provide an explanation that addresses the method by which wagers will be posted,

wagering limits, and at the date and time acceptance of wagers will cease. For new

league or new event requests, provide the types of wagers to be offered and wager

and payout limits. Identical to NFL

108



● Provide a full description of any technology which would be utilized to offer the

league, event, or wager types. All the technology is already in place, the USFL

owned by FOX and will be televised by NBC and they will follow NFL rules.

● Provide a description of the policies and procedures regarding the league, event, or

wager’s integrity. If this is a new league request, provide a copy of the league’s

integrity policy. The USFL is owned by FOX Sports, their ratings will be high as

games will be on NBC, these than other sports in the catalog.

● Provide a listing of any known scandals, match fixing or point shaving
investigations, criminal investigations, or other incidents that could possibly
compromise the integrity of any players, teams, leagues, tournaments, or
exhibitions. There are no known scandals in USFL Football, this league will have
the same oversight as other Pro Football leagues.

● Provide a description of any communication or cooperation made or attempted
between the licensee and the organizer or governing body, including a copy of any

written responses from the organizer or governing body to the notification by the

licensee. Here is the Press Release announcing the league

https://www.foxsports.com/presspass/latest-news/2021/06/03/united-states-foot

ball-league-returns-2022

109



● Provide such other information or documentation which demonstrates that:

o The event can be effectively supervised by a sport governing body or other
oversight body.

o There are integrity safeguards in place.
o The outcome can be documented and can be verified.

o The outcome is not affected by any wager placed; and

o The event is conducted in conformity with all applicable laws and rules.
o Wagering on the event and acceptance of the wager type are consistent with

the public policy of this state.

● In what other jurisdiction(s) are the league(s), event(s), wager(s)
approved? In what jurisdictions has approval been requested but
not granted?

DO NOT INSERT A LINK TO OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

THE LEAGUE IS CURRENTLY BEING LOOKED AT BY STATES THAT ARE INDUSTRY LEADERS LIKE NEW
JERSEY. THE LEAGUE KICKS OFF IN APRIL, THE NEXT SD COMMISSION MEETING IS MARCH 23RD,
WE WILL KNOW BY THEN IF NJ APPROVES THE USFL.

● If existing South Dakota Commission on Gaming (SDCG) approved House Rules do

not adequately address contingencies of the league, event, or wager type, the

licensee must submit amended House Rules for approval. Yes they do

SDCG may require an appropriate test or experimental period and subject any

technology that would be used to offer an event category or wager type to such testing,

investigation, and approval.

110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121


	Agenda 3232022_
	corrected packet
	packet
	packet
	packet
	packet 1 and unapproved minutes
	meeting pack 1




	Unapproved Minutes 02-02-2022
	packet
	packet
	packet
	packet 1 and unapproved minutes
	meeting pack 1

	meeting pack 2



	packet
	packet
	packet
	packet
	packet
	packet
	meeting pack 3



	packet
	packet
	packet
	meeting packet 4



	packet
	packet
	request to add USFL
	(1)  A request for approval of an event category involving sporting events must include the name of the sport’s governing body and, to the extent known by the licensee or sports wagering services provider, a description of its policies and procedu...
	(2)  A request for approval of an event category involving events other than professional and collegiate sporting events must include:
	(A)  A full description of the event category and the manner in which sports bets would be placed and winning sports bets would be determined;
	(B)  A full description of any technology that would be utilized to offer the event category;
	(C)  Assurance that the event category meets the requirements of subdivision (6);
	(D)  Any rules or voting procedures related to the event category; and
	(3)  The commission may require an appropriate test or experimental period, under the terms and conditions the commission considers appropriate, before granting final approval to an event category or wager type. The commission may subject any tech...
	(4)  The commission may grant, deny, limit, restrict, or condition a request made pursuant to this rule for any cause. The commission may issue an order revoking, suspending, or modifying any approval of an event category or wager type granted und...

	packet
	USFL Addition to SD Gaming Catalog Request


	packet
	packet
	packet






